INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Charleston, West Virginia

ICA EFiled: Sep 01 2023 02:11PM EDT Transaction ID 70773869

LISA R. DANIELS,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

v.

No. 23-ICA-212 (Civil Action #21-C-650)

DAL Global Services, LLC,

Defendant Below, Respondent

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Kurt E. Entsminger, Esq. (WVSB #1130) Addair Entsminger PLLC 1018 Kanawha Blvd., East, Suite 409 Charleston, WV 25301 304.881.0411 kee@employmentlawyerswv.com Counsel for Petitioner W. Scott Evans (WVSB # 5850) Scott Evans Law PLLC 112 Capitol Street, 4th Floor Charleston, WV. 25301 304.552.1315 scott@scottevanslaw.com Counsel for Petitioner

II. Statement of the Case
III. Summary of Argument14
IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision18
V. Argument
A. Standard of Review
B. West Virginia Human Rights Act Claims18
1. Ms. Daniels was disabled within the meaning of the <i>West Virginia Human Rights</i> <i>Act</i> at the time she lawfully used prescribed medical cannabis and thus she was protected under the Act for both her failure to accommodate and her retaliation claims
2. Ms. Daniels' <i>West Virginia Human Rights Act</i> Retaliation claim is legally valid and was wrongfully dismissed on summary judgment25
C. West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act Claim27
1. Ms. Daniels was wrongfully terminated under the <i>West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act</i> due to her lawful use of medical marijuana to treat chronic pain
D. Invasion of Privacy Claim33
1. DAL Global's drug testing violated Plaintiff's right to privacy perTwigg Decision
VI. Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Fed. Ins. Co. of N.Y. 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770
<i>Baughman v. Wal-Mart Store</i> , 215 W.Va. 45, 592 S.E.2d 824 (2003)4,17, 33, 34
<i>Benton v. Commonwealth</i> , No. 2019-CA-1901-MR (Ky. Ct. App. 2021)23
<i>Callaghan v. Darlington Fabrics Corp.</i> No. PC-2014-5680, 2017 WL 2321181 (R.I. Super. May 23, 2017)
<i>Chance v. Kraft Heinz Food Co.</i> No. K18C-01-056, 2018 WL 6655670 (Del. Super Ct. Dec. 17, 2018)29
<i>Employment Div. v. Smith,</i> 485 U.S. 660, 108 S.Ct. 1444, 99 L.Ed.2d 753 (1988)23
<i>Franklin v. State</i> , 258 A.2d 767, 769 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1969)24
Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99, 464 S.E. 2d 741, 755 (1995)26
Harless v. First Nat. Bank in Fairmont, 162 W.Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978)
Hayes v. Rhone-Poulenc, Inc., 206 W.Va. 18, 521 S.E.2d 331 (W.Va. 1999)
<i>Hurley v. Allied Chemical Corp.</i> , 164 W.Va. 268, 262 S.E.2d 757 (1980)
<i>In re R.L.H.</i> , 327 Mont. 520, 116 P.3d 791, 795-96 (2005)23
Jackson v. State, 833 S.W.2d 220, 223 (Tex.App.1992)23

Jenkins v. J.C. Penney Cas. Ins. Co., 167 W.Va. 597, 280 S.E.2d 252 (1981)
<i>Matkovick v. CSX Transportation</i> , 238 W.Va. 238, 793 S.E.2d 888, 894 (2015)
Nellas v. Loucas, 156 W.Va. 77,191 S.E.2d 160, 163 (W.Va. 1972)1,25
<i>Nethercutt v. Commonwealth,</i> 241 Ky. 47, 43 S.W. 2d 330 (1931)24
Noffsinger v. SSC Niantic Operating Co., 273 F. Supp. 3d 326 (D. Conn. 2017)
Painter v. Peavy 192 W.Va. 189, 451,S.E. 2d 755 (1994)
Palimiter v. Commonwealth Health System Inc.,260 A. 3d 967, 975-76 (Pa. Superior Court 2021)
<i>State v. Downes,</i> 572 P.2d 1328, 1330 (Or. Ct. App. 1977)
<i>State v. Dudick</i> , 158 W.Va. 629, 213 S.E.2d 458 (W.Va. 1978)21,22
<i>State v. Flinchpaugh</i> , 232 Kan. 831, 659 P.2d 208, 211 (1983)
<i>State v. Griffin</i> , 220 Wis.2d 371, 584 N.W.2d 127, 131 (1998)23
<i>State v. Lewis</i> , 394 N.W.2d 212, 217 (Minn. Ct. App. 1986)
<i>State v. Sorenson,</i> 758 P.2d 466, 468 (Utah Ct. App.1988)
<i>State v. Thronsen</i> , 809 P.2d 941, 943 (Alaska Ct.App.1991)23
<i>State v. Vorm</i> , 570 N.E.2d 109, 111 (Ind.Ct.App.1991)

<i>Twigg v. Hercules Corp.</i> , 185 W.Va. 155, 406 S.E.2d 52, 55 (1990)4,6,17,33,34,35,36
Whitmire v. Wal Mart Stores, Inc., 359 F. Supp 3d 761 (D. Ariz 2019)29
<u>Regulations</u> :
West Virginia Human Rights Commission's Regulation 77CSR 1-4.226
West Virginia Human Rights Commission's Regulation 77CSR 1-4.526
<u>Statutes</u> :
West Virginia Alcohol and Drug-Free Act, W.Va. Code §21-10-2(n)
West Virginia Human Rights Act, W. Va. Code §5-11-1, et seq15,21,26
West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act, <i>W.Va. Code</i> § 16A-5-4(b)(1)27,30
West Virginia Code §60A-4-401(c)20
Rules:
W.Va. R. App. P. 18
W.Va. R. App. P. 20
Other Authorities:

National Center on Substance Abuse and Child Welfare/Substance
Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), [October 10, 2015];
Drug Testing Practice Guidance

Federal Aviation Administration, Drug Abatement Division (FAA),
[Version 2020-01], Safety-Sensitive Job Categories for FAA-Mandated
Drug and Alcohol Testing

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Circuit Court erred in granting DAL Global's Rule 56 Motion for Summary Judgment and in denying Ms. Daniels' Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and to Obtain Relief from Such Judgment. App. 00475-00492, 513-517. Ms. Daniels specifically challenges the following findings as errors justifying reversal under a de novo appeal standard:

A. FINAL ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT:

1. Failure To Accommodate Under West Virginia Human Rights Act

i. In rejecting Ms. Daniel's failure to accommodate claim under the *West Virginia Human Rights Act* ("WVHRA"), the trial court committed error by finding, without citation to any supporting legal authority, that by having residual traces of medical marijuana in her blood system, Ms. Daniels violated West Virginia's laws even though Ms. Daniels' actual use of medically approved marijuana occurred in Ohio and in full accordance with Ohio law. This error led the trial court to find, as a matter of law, that DAL Global had no legal obligation to provide an accommodation to Ms. Daniels under the WVHRA because her alleged illegal drug conduct prevented her from meeting the definition of being "disabled" under the Act. App. 00482.

ii. The trial court committed error in finding that, even if DAL Global had a legal duty to provide a reasonable accommodation to Ms. Daniels, such an accommodation would have, as a matter of law, constituted an undue hardship on DAL Global. This error is evident because DAL Global failed to assert this affirmative defense in its Answer and failed to produce any supporting evidence within its motion for summary judgment. *See Hayes v. Rhone-Poulenc, Inc.*, 206 W.Va. 18, 521 S.E.2d 331 (W.Va. 1999) (undue hardship is an affirmative defense upon which the employer bears the burden of persuasion), *Nellas v. Loucas*, 156 W.Va. 77,191 S.E.2d 160, 163 (W.Va. 1972) (a failure to plead an affirmative defense results in waiver of that defense). Further, even if DAL Global had properly plead this defense and was prepared to produce some evidence

to support it, the trial court should have found that genuine issues of fact remained to be decided by the jury.

2. Retaliation Claim Under The West Virginia Human Rights Act

i. In rejecting Ms. Daniels' retaliation claim under the WVHRA, the trial court made the same error as described above by finding that the mere presence of residual traces of medical marijuana in her blood system constituted a violation of West Virginia's drug laws even though the uncontroverted evidence showed Ms. Daniels' only use of medical marijuana occurred in Ohio and in full compliance with Ohio law. Based upon this erroneous conclusion the Court found that Ms. Daniels had been stripped from her protections under the WVHRA. This error, in turn, led to the conclusion by the trial court that Ms. Daniels' request for an accommodation, as a matter of law, did not constitute protected activity under the WVHRA, and that Ms. Daniels had therefore failed to establish a prima facie case for retaliation.

ii. The trial court committed error by concluding that Ms. Daniels did not engage in any "protected activity" applicable under the WVHRA by requesting to be exempted from a drug test. Ms. Daniels alleged in her Complaint and testified repeatedly that she had requested a reasonable accommodation relating to her disability, e.g. chronic pain which was legally treated by medical marijuana, to which requests DAL Global's only response was to terminate her. A claim for retaliation in violation of WVHRA can be properly predicated, as asserted in Ms. Daniels' Complaint, upon the termination of a disabled employee for having sought and requested a reasonable accommodation.

iii. The trial court committed further error by ruling that Ms. Daniels had not demonstrated that "but for" her request for an accommodation she would not have been fired in that such an issue is a pure question of motive and therefore is a question of fact to be determined solely by a jury. **iv.** The trial court committed error by ruling that Ms. Daniels had waived her retaliation claim by not addressing DAL Global's summary judgment arguments relating to such retaliation claim. However, because DAL Global's respective arguments relating to Ms. Daniels' reasonable accommodation claim and her retaliation claim involved common issues and the same rationale in responding to one as the other, Ms. Daniels effectively responded to Global's retaliation claim arguments when she responded to the related accommodation claim arguments.

3. Wrongful Termination Under The West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act

i. The trial court committed error in finding that no private cause of action existed for wrongful termination under the *West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act* ("WVMCA"). In refusing to allow enforcement of the Act's express anti-discrimination protection by way of private cause of action, the Court failed to follow the West Virginia Supreme Court's well established precedent for accepting implied causes of actions for statutory violations as is "deeply engrained" in the Court's past decisions. *Jenkins v. J.C. Penney Cas. Ins. Co.*, 167 W.Va. 597, 280 S.E.2d 252 (1981), overturned on other grounds by *State ex rel. State Farm Fire Cas. Co. v. Madden* 192 W.Va. 155, 451 S.Ed.2d 721 (1994). Moreover, Ms. Daniels clearly satisfied the elements set forth in *Hurley v. Allied Chemical Corp.*, 164 W.Va. 268, 262 S.E.2d 757 (1980) for determining the existence of a private cause of action.

ii. The trial court committed error by finding that Ms. Daniels' lawful use of medical cannabis in accordance with an Ohio Medical Marijuana Registry card was not statutorily protected under the WVMCA. Specifically, the WVMCA's anti-discrimination protections apply to all West Virginia employees without regard to their state residency or the situs of their protected use of medical marijuana.

iii. The trial court committed error in finding that Ms. Daniels discharge for her lawful use of medical cannabis under an Ohio Medical Marijuana Registry card was not a violation of public policy under West Virginia common law as articulated in *Harless v. First Nat. Bank in Fairmont*, 162 W.Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978). Specifically, the WVMCA contains specific language that bars employment-related discrimination of individuals who legally use medical cannabis and thus establishes a substantial public policy enforceable under the West Virginia law.

iv. The trial court committed error by ruling that Ms. Daniels' residency in Ohio precluded her from enjoying the same legal protections as are afforded under the WVMCA to employees residing in West Virginia thereby violating the Dormant Commerce Clause of the Constitution of the United States.

4. Invasion Of Privacy

i. The trial court committed error by finding that the principles of *Baughman v. Wal-Mart Store*, 215 W.Va. 45, 592 S.E.2d 824 (2003) precluded Ms. Daniels from enjoying common law privacy protections since *Baughman*, on its face, only pertained to pre-employment drug testing and not to drug testing procedures implemented for existing employees. As an existing employee of DAL Global, Ms. Daniels was entitled to a higher expectation of privacy when required to undergo drug testing than the more limited privacy protections afforded to prospective employees.

ii. The trial court committed error in finding that, as a matter of law, Ms. Daniels was employed in a "safety sensitive" position under *Twigg v. Hercules Corp.*, 185 W.Va. 155, 406 S.E.2d 52 (1980). The uncontroverted evidence showed that a) DAL Global never treated Ms. Daniels' position as a Passenger Service Agent as "safety sensitive," and b) the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") has specifically determined that the duties of a Passenger Service Agent are not safety related and therefore not subject to mandated random drug screenings.

iii. The trial court committed error in rejecting Ms. Daniels' invasion of privacy claim as a matter of law to the extent that the issues surrounding this privacy claim and the issues related to safety sensitivity, involved genuine questions of fact that should have been properly left for jury determination.

B. ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO ALTER AND AMEND JUDGMENT AND OBTAIN RELIEF FROM SUCH JUDGMENT

1. West Virginia Human Rights Act Claims (Failure To Accommodate And Retaliation)

i. The trial court committed clear error of law in denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and to Obtain Relief from Such Judgment in that the trial court's order failed to address or reference Plaintiff's arguments regarding her *West Virginia Human Rights Act* (WVHRA) causes of action.

2. West Virginia Medical Cannabis Act

i. The trial court committed clear error of law in denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and To Obtain Relief from Such Judgment by finding that such Act does not provide a private cause of action even though Ms. Daniels satisfied the criteria set forth for a private cause of action in *Hurley v. Allied Chemical Corp.*, 164 W.Va. 268, 262 S.E.2d 757 (1980); and even though W.Va. Code §16A-15-4 contains broad anti-discrimination provision and places no limitations upon its application to West Virginia employees who reside and legally use medical marijuana in another state.

ii. The trial court committed "obvious injustice" in denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and To Obtain Relief from Such Judgment by accepting DAL Global's spurious argument that Ms. Daniels had improperly raised criminal law questions in a case involving only civil law issues. DAL Global's assertion that Ms. Daniels had engaged in illegal conduct involving the use or possession of drugs was the linchpin of its defense. Specifically, DAL Global asserted that Ms. Daniels was properly terminated because she had engaged in conduct that violated its policies prohibiting an employee from engaging in the illegal use or possession of drugs. In responding to DAL Global's assertion, Ms. Daniels has demonstrated, by citing to extensive legal authority, that there is no viable legal or factual theory upon which to find that she engaged in any illegal conduct that violated DAL Global's drug policies.

iii. The trial court committed clear error of law in denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and to Obtain Relief from Such Judgment and not reinstating Ms. Daniel's WVMCA claim based upon the violation of the Dormant Commerce Clause. Specifically, the trial court erred in concluding that principles of the Dormant Commerce Clause, as articulated by our state Supreme Court in *Matkovick v. CSX Transportation*, 238 W.Va. 238, 793 S.E.2d 888, 894 (2015), were not applicable even though the effect of the trial court's ruling resulted in discriminating against out-of-state residents employed in West Virginia by denying them the same WVMCA's protections as afforded to West Virginia residents.

3. Invasion of Privacy

i. The trial court committed clear error of law in denying Ms. Daniels' s Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and To Obtain Relief from Such Judgment in that the trial court's order failed to take into account Ms. Daniels' arguments that DAL Global had required Ms. Daniels to submit to a return-to-work drug test in violation of her privacy rights recognized in of *Twigg v. Hercules Corp.*, 185 W.Va. 155, 406 S.E.2d 52, 55 (1990).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On August 4, 2021, Ms. Daniels filed her Complaint herein against her former employer, DAL Global, LLC, and one of her supervisors, Jennifer Kuhn¹, as defendants. Ms. Daniels' suit alleges, in part: 1) DAL Global wrongfully terminated her in violation of the West Virginia Human Rights Act after it failed to engage in the interactive process and denied her request for a reasonable accommodation due to her disability status; 2) DAL Global wrongfully terminated her in violation of the WVMCA's anti-discrimination protections which bar any adverse employment action based upon her status as an individual using medical marijuana as well as in violation of public policy as expressed by the WVMCA and in accordance with *Harless v. First Nat. Bank in Fairmont*, 162 W.Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978); and 3) DAL Global violated her right to privacy by requiring her to submit to a drug test without legal justification. App. 00001-00017.

Following the close of discovery, both parties filed dispositive motions, which were set for oral argument on January 31, 2023. App. 00040-00210, 00211-00357.A few days prior to the hearing, the trial court unexpectedly canceled the hearing and requested both parties to supply proposed findings and conclusion for inclusion in proposed orders. Soon thereafter, the trial court entered an order granting DAL Global's motion for summary judgment and accepting nearly verbatim all of by DAL Global's proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law. App. 00474-00491. No separate order was entered relating to Ms. Daniels' motion for summary judgment. Ms. Daniels timely filed her Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment and to Obtain Relief from Such Judgment which was denied on May 1, 2023. App. 00492-00505, 00512-00516.

¹ Prior to the close of discovery, Ms. Daniels voluntarily dismissed Ms. Kuhn as a defendant in the litigation. App. 00038.

B. Statement of Facts

Lisa Daniels worked as a Passenger Service Agent for DAL Global Services, LLC ("DAL Global" or "Unifi") at Yeager Airport for nine (9) years before being terminated on October 27, 2020. App. 00045, 00103. DAL Global purports to be the largest aviation services provider in North America with over 20,000 employees and annually servicing over 200 airports worldwide. *See* <u>www.unifiservice.com</u> Ms. Daniels was assigned by DAL Global to work at Yeager Airport in Charleston West Virginia where her primary duties consisted of providing customer service to airline passengers at the Delta Airlines' ticketing counter. App. 89-90. During her employment with DAL Global, Ms. Daniels maintained her primary residence in Proctorville, Ohio and commuted to work in Charleston, West Virginia. App. 00084-00085.²

For several years, Ms. Daniels had suffered from fibromyalgia and chronic pain. App. 00134. Because of past negative reactions to pain medications, Ms. Daniels received an Ohio Medical Marijuana Registry card permitting her to legally use medical marijuana for pain relief. App. 00134, 00054, 00095, Ms. Daniels has been treated for pain management by Dr. Allen Guehl of Kettering, Ohio since July 7, 2020. App. 00136. Dr. Guehl has testified:

As part of my medical care and treatment of Ms. Daniels, I evaluated and certified Ms. Daniels for the use of medical cannabis due to chronic pain and fibromyalgia starting July 7, 2020 to present.

Id. Ms. Daniels only used prescribed medical cannabis at her Ohio home and at such times to ensure she never reported to work for DAL Global under the influence of cannabis. App. 00100,

² From approximately 2019, Ms. Daniels maintained a second residence in the State of West Virginia so she could legally assist in providing foster care to her grandson who was under the jurisdiction of West Virginia's Child Protective Services. App. 00084-00085.

00102, 00107-00112.

In June of 2020, Ms. Daniels began experiencing increased pain due to her medical disabilities that impaired her ability to perform manual tasks, such as lifting and grasping objects with her hands. App. 00105-00106, 00069-00073. Ms. Daniels' doctor, Dr. Francis Farhadi, thereby certified to DAL Global that it was medically necessary for Ms. Daniels to undergo carpal tunnel surgery which she underwent in the early Fall of 2020. App. 0069-00073. Based upon this certification, DAL Global granted Ms. Daniels' request for continuous ADA medical leave from August 6, 2020 until September 23, 2020. App. 00051-00052,00104-00105. Upon further medical certification that she needed additional time to heal from her surgery, this ADA leave was extended until October 19, 2020. App. 00069-00073. During her approximate two-month leave of absence, Ms. Daniels used lawfully prescribed medical cannabis for the management of her pain. App. 00116, 00118-00121.

On Friday, October 16, 2020, while she was still out on employer-approved ADA leave, Ms. Daniels was ordered by her supervisor, Station Manager Jennifer Kuhn, to undergo a drug test as a condition for returning to work from her medical leave of absence. App. 00045-00046, 00069-00073, 00113-00117, 00147, 00055. DAL Global's policies at such time required that any employee on leave for more than 30 days undergo a drug test before returning to work. App. 00101, 0068, 00045.

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