INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Charleston, West Virginia

LISA R. DANIELS,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

v.

No. 23-ICA-212 (Civil Action #21-C-650)

ICA EFiled: Oct 16 2023

Transaction ID 71106353

03:43PM EDT

DAL Global Services, LLC,

Defendant Below, Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DAL GLOBAL SERVICES, LLC

Marla N. Presley (WV ID No. 9771) marla.presley@jacksonlewis.com Laura C. Bunting (WV ID No. 13740) laura.bunting@jacksonlewis.com Andrew F. Maunz (WV ID No. 14012) andrew.maunz@jacksonelewis.com JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 1001 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1000 Pittsburgh, PA 15222 (412) 232-0404 (412) 232-3441 (facsimile)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At its core, Petitioner seeks to shield her use of marijuana by using claims under West Virginia law. But as the Circuit Court correctly determined, West Virginia law did not cover Petitioner's marijuana use and did not protect her from a drug test or employment consequences because of a positive drug test revealing use of a controlled substance illegal under West Virginia law. The Circuit Court reaffirmed this determination after Petitioner moved to Alter or Amend the Judgment under Rule 59(e).

Rather than accept that she does not have legally valid claims, Petitioner continues to try to fit a square peg into a round hole by bringing this Appeal. Once again, as exposed by the Circuit Court, Petitioner is misguided in her arguments.

Petition has no claims under the WVHRA. West Virginia law is clear that it does not protect an employee from drug tests for illegal drugs and employers do not have to accommodate positive drug tests. In the alternative, having to exempt Petitioner from a uniformly applied drug test would be an undue hardship on Respondent. Petitioner also does not have a retaliation claim under the WVHRA because she did not engage in the required opposition activity required to form such a claim. Any retaliation claim would also fail because Petitioner has no evidence that her termination was retaliatory.

Petitioner also claims that she has a viable cause of action under the WVMCA, but this claim falls apart with just the slightest examination of the statute's terms. The WVMCA does not provide for a private right of action. But even if it did, the WVMCA by its own terms does not apply to Petitioner's Ohio medical marijuana certification. Without a West Virginia certification pursuant to the WVMCA, the provisions of the WVMCA do not apply to Petitioner. In addition, Petitioner cannot sustain a West Virginia common law claim for violating public policy because the public policy created by the WVMCA does not cover her out-of-state medical marijuana certification.

Lastly, Petitioner claims that the drug test administered by Respondent improperly invaded her privacy. Once again, Petitioner is incorrect. Petitioner, like any returning employee, had a lowered expectation of privacy resulting from her knowledge that the drug test was needed to allow her to return to work. Moreover, the invasion of privacy claim fails because some of Petitioner's duties related to public safety, which the West Virginia Supreme Court has recognized is an exception to privacy protections from drug tests.

As explained in more detail below, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's decision to grant summary judgment to Respondent on all of Petitioner's claims.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner has requested oral argument pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Respondent does not oppose Petitioner's request for oral argument.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly determined that Respondent was entitled to summary judgment on all of Petitioner's claims. As explained in detail below, each of Petitioner's claims is missing at least one fundamental element, and Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on each claim, often on multiple bases. Furthermore, the Circuit Court correctly denied Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment. This Court should uphold the Circuit Court's legally sound decisions and affirm the Circuit Court's previous rulings.²

I. Standard of Review

The Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). "Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 4.

If the nonmovant fails to make an adequate showing on even one element of her case, the failure of proof "necessarily renders all other facts immaterial." *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S.

² Pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 10(d), Respondent addresses all of Petitioner's assignments of error in the sections below and disagrees with all of Petitioner's assignments of error.

317, 323 (1986). To defeat a summary judgment motion, the nonmoving party must present evidence with substance that shows there are genuine issues of material fact. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 60, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995). "For example, 'unsupported speculation is not sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motion." *Id.* (quoting *Felty v. Graves-Humphreys Co.*, 818 F.2d 1126, 1128 (4th Cir. 1987)).

The Circuit Court's denial of a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment is reviewed under "the same standard that would apply to the underlying judgment upon which the motion is based and from which the appeal ... is filed." Syl. Pt. 1, *Wickland v. American Travellers Life Ins. Co.*, 204 W. Va. 430, 513 S.E.2d 657 (1998). Therefore, because the Rule 59(e) Motion sought to alter or amend the granting of summary judgment, the Circuit Court's denial of the Rule 59(e) Motion is reviewed de novo on appeal.

II. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined that Petitioner's WVHRA Claims Failed as a Matter of Law.

Petitioner takes issues with the Circuit Court's determination that her WVHRA claims of failure to accommodate and retaliation failed as a matter of law. As was the case throughout this litigation, Petitioner's Brief shows that she fundamentally misunderstands what is required in such claims and fails to grasp the Circuit Court's bases for granting summary judgment. The WVHRA simply did not protect Petitioner's marijuana use or allow her to avoid a drug test.

a. Petitioner's Failure to Accommodate Claim cannot be put to a jury.

As held by the Circuit Court, there was no reason to present Petitioner's fundamentally deficient failure to accommodate claim to a jury. The WVHRA explicitly articulates that Respondent had no duty to accommodate Petitioner's marijuana use, which was illegal in West Virginia at the time, and that Respondent did not have to exempt her from a drug test.

7

"[T]o establish a prima facie case of disability discrimination, the plaintiff must show that [s]he is a disabled person within the meaning of the law, that [s]he is qualified to perform the essential functions of the job (either with or without reasonable accommodation), and that [s]he has suffered an adverse employment action under circumstances from which an inference of unlawful discrimination arises." *Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co.*, 198 W. Va. 51, 71 n. 22, 479 S.E.2d 561 (1996). "To comply with our Human Rights Act, an employer must make reasonable accommodations for known impairments to permit an employee to perform the essential functions of the job." *Id.* at 65. Employers do not have to provide accommodations that would be an undue hardship. *Id.* at 66.

As correctly found by the Circuit Court, Petitioner failed to meet the first element of a disability discrimination claim, because her marijuana use cannot render her "disabled." Under the WVHRA, "disability" is defined as "[a] mental or physical impairment which substantially limits one or more of such person's major life activities." W. Va. Code § 5-11-3(m)(1). Petitioner provided Respondent a doctor's note that stated she could return to work and did not need any more time off. (App. at pp. 00310-11). Petitioner did not request any changes to her job duties to allow her to come back to work or suggest she needed more time for her injuries to heal, instead, she based her failure to accommodate claim on a request to delay a drug test so that she did not test positive for marijuana.

The WVHRA explicitly excludes the use of drugs from the "disability" protections of the statute. "For the purposes of this article, this term [disability] does not include persons whose current use of or addiction to alcohol or drugs prevents such persons from performing the duties of the job in question or whose employment, by reason of such current alcohol or drug abuse, would constitute a direct threat to property or the safety of others." W. Va. Code § 5-11-3(m). Similarly, the federal Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") excludes an individual "who is

currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs" from its protections.³ *See* 42 U.S.C. § 12114(a). "[T]he standards governing the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and the WVHRA are coextensive." *Shafer v. Preston Mem. Hosp. Corp.*, 107 F.3d 274, 281 (4th Cir. 1997). Someone who is not disabled under the ADA would also not be disabled under the WVHRA. *Id.* In addition, the West Virginia Human Rights Commission's ("WVHRC") Legislative Rule makes it clear that nothing in the WVHRA is meant to "prohibit . . . the conducting of testing for the illegal use of drugs by job applicants or employees or making employment decisions based on such test results." W. Va. Code R. § 77-1-5.6. Legislative rules, like the one issued by the WVHRC on drug tests, have the force of law under West Virginia law. *See* W. Va. Code § 29A-1-2(d).

At the time of her test, marijuana was an illegal drug in the state of West Virginia, no one had a medical marijuana certification to use marijuana in the state, and no West Virginia law authorized Petitioner to have marijuana in her system. Petitioner's drug use, which she admits was not legal in West Virginia, is not a disability under the WVHRA and was not a valid basis for her to request an accommodation. Petitioner could not save her job by admitting to drug use just before the test given her inevitable failure. *See Shafer*, 107 F.3d at 280 ("[A]n employee who admits to recent drug use only after being caught and confronted—like an employee who fails a drug test—cannot avoid being fired by immediately entering drug rehabilitation."). "Terminating an employee for 'current illegal drug use' does not constitute discrimination based on disability under anti-discrimination laws." *Foster v. Nash*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106988, *9 (S.D. W. Va. June 18, 2020). In turn, Respondent had no legal obligation to delay the test or exempt Petitioner from the drug testing policy because of her use of marijuana and her failure to accommodate claim fails on this basis.

³ Marijuana is also illegal under to federal law.

Petitioner attempts to gloss over the fact the fact that her marijuana use was not protected by the WVHRA by claiming the Circuit Court erred in characterizing the marijuana in Petitioner's system as "not legal in the state of West Virginia" and a test for marijuana in West Virginia at the time was a test "for an illegal drug in the state." Petitioner's Brief at p. 19. Rather than being an error, the Circuit Court's language explains the status of marijuana in West Virginia at the time of the test. Petitioner can protest this reality, but she cannot escape the fact that marijuana was an illegal drug in West Virginia at the time and no West Virginia law authorized her to have marijuana in her system.

Petitioner seeks to distract from the fact that the WVHRA did not protect her marijuana use or allow her to be exempted from a drug testing requirement by citing a number of criminal cases from West Virginia and other states regarding the prosecution of marijuana offenses. *Id.* at pp. 20-24. This line of argument badly misses the point and is irrelevant to the issues in Petitioner's case. The Circuit Court did not use the language in Paragraph 50 of its Order to call for Petitioner's prosecution, instead, the Circuit Court included this language to explain how marijuana— Petitioner's specific test for it—fell within the "illegal drug" language used in the WVHRC Legislative Rule and the ADA. Petitioner does not have to meet the requirements for prosecution for the test she was being administered to be a test for an "illegal drug." The test was a test for illegal drugs based on marijuana's status at the time in West Virginia. Petitioner cannot escape that the WVHRA did not protect her marijuana use and did not obligate Respondent to exempt Petitioner from a drug testing requirement. The lack of legal protection of her marijuana use under the WVHRA makes her failure to accommodate claim fail as a matter of law and the Circuit Court correct to find that summary judgment was appropriate.

Petitioner also argues that the Circuit Court erred when it determined that Petitioner's failure to accommodate claim failed because any accommodation from the drug testing requirement would have been an undue hardship. Petitioner's Brief at p. 25. As the Circuit Court explained, undue hardship was a "separate and independent reason" why Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Petitioner's failure to accommodate claim. App. at p. 00481. So, this Court only needs to address this conclusion by the Circuit Court if it finds that the other reason the Circuit Court gave was wrong.

Respondent raised undue hardship in response to Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment, putting the issue in front of the Circuit Court to consider for summary judgment. *See* App. at p. 00443. Petitioner claims that Respondent waived the undue hardship argument by not pleading the defense in its Answer. Petitioner's Brief at p. 25. Respondent's Answer did plead as a defense that it had "complied in all respects with their obligations under West Virginia law." App. 34. This defense would encompass the need to accommodate Petitioner unless an undue hardship exists. Petitioner never alleged that Respondent had failed to plead an affirmative defense of undue hardship with the Circuit Court, even in her Rule 59(e) Motion. *See* App. 496-504. But if this Court finds that Petitioner did not plead undue hardship in its Answer, the admission of a defense not properly pled is "left to the sound discretion of the circuit court." *Hanshaw v. City of Huntington*, 193 W. Va. 364, 367, 456 S.E.2d 445 (1995). The Circuit Court correctly determined that exempting Petitioner from a drug test or ignoring her positive test would have been an undue hardship on Respondent.

In any event, assuming arguendo that this Court determines that the Circuit Court should not have made the undue hardship determination on summary judgment, the decision on the failure to accommodate claim should be upheld based on Petitioner not being disabled and there being no obligation to accommodate her from a test for illegal drugs.

11

b. Petitioner's WVHRA Retaliation Claim is meritless.

Petitioner also claims the Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment on her WVHRA retaliation claim. Once again, Petitioner fails to understand the bases for the Circuit Court's determination, and she fails to articulate a clear reason why the Circuit Court was wrong.

As the Circuit Court determined, Petitioner's retaliation claim failed as a matter of law because she never engaged in any protected activity that can support a retaliation claim. Without such protected activity, she cannot meet her prima facie case of a retaliation claim and her claim fails.

To establish the prima facie case for a retaliation claim, Petitioner must show: "(1) that [she] engaged in protected activity, (2) that [her] employer was aware of the protected activities, (3) that [she] was subsequently discharged and (absent other evidence tending to establish a retaliatory motivation) (4) that [her] discharge followed ... her protected activities within such period of time that the court can infer retaliatory motivation." *Brammer v. W. Va. Hum. Rts. Comm'n*, 183 W. Va. 108, 110-11, 394 S.E.2d 340 (1990). The WVHRA prohibits employers from engaging "in any form of reprisal or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices or acts forbidden under this article or because he or she has filed a complaint, testified or assisted in any proceeding under this article." W.Va. Code § 5-11-9(C). The West Virginia Supreme Court has explained that for an individual to show that she has engaged in protected activity she "must show that . . . her opposition concerned practices that he or she believed were violations of the statute." *Hanlon v. Chambers*, 195 W. Va. 99, 112, 464 S.E.2d 741 (1995).

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